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UNEDITED TRANSCRIPTION  


CONCLUSION OF DAY THREE OF HEARING
DR. DUNCAN MCDOWELL (WITNESS)

CHAIRWOMAN:

If you give us just a moment, Dr. Duncan, we've gone to get Mr. Whalen, who's the pastor, Pastor Whalen, who's going to be cross-examining you momentarily.  

Good afternoon, Dr. Duncan McDowall.  Our adverse notice, Pastor Whalen, he needs a little more time.  

So, what I'm going to do is ask commissioners to start with their questioning and then, after they've concluded, I'll ask Mr./Pastor Whalen to ask his questions.  I should remind you that you're still on oath which means you're sworn to tell the truth.  

And so we don't have to have you retake the oath.  It's just that you're under oath.  The first Commissioner that will be speaking to you is Mrs. Forth, and so I’ll call on her now.  Mrs. Forth?  

MRS. FORTH:

Good after…

SR. COUNSELOR:

Justice, I have no sound.  

CHAIRWOMAN:

Sorry.

MRS. FORTH:

S, good afternoon, Dr. McDowall.  

CHAIRWOMAN:

Can you hear, Counsel?

SR. COUNSELOR:

I can now hear. yes.

CHAIRWOMAN:

He cannot hear?

JR. COUNSEL

Yes, he can hear.

CHAIRWOMAN:

Can you hear Dr. McDowall?  

MALE:


We can't hear him.

FEMALE:


We can't hear him.  

CHAIRWOMAN:

We can't hear you.  Just one moment.  

SR. COUNSELOR:

You're muted.

CHAIRWOMAN:

An electronic glitch.  Just one moment.  Electronic…your mic?  

SR. COUNSELOR:

NO, no, his mic is muted.

WITNESS:


How about now?  Can you hear me now?
CHAIRWOMAN

He’s hearing now. 

SR. COUNSELOR:

There you go. 
Yes.  

CHAIRWOMAN:

Okay.

MRS. FORTH:

Good afternoon, Dr. McDowall.

WITNESS:


Good afternoon.

MRS. FORTH:

What I've taken away is that the homeowners of that community in Tucker's Town was a proud community, a community that was not only thriving, but people who were proud homeowners – or landowners.  And I would think the move had a great psychological effect on the families and that community.

I also heard that you indicated in your report that some of the peoples were in agreement with the purchase of their properties.  And you also said that they were considered – the community of these people, were considered to be not very sophisticated and I would think, in some cases, very passive people.

So those that opted to go along with the purchase, I feel that it may have been a result of the/them not being sophisticated – maybe under duress and because they were passive – and felt maybe intimidated by this purchase, while others who were a little stronger stood fast and, of course, went on to petition the Court regarding the property.

Now, there were about 600 acres and it was indicated that those acres were to be used for the development of tourism.  But up until this date, all of those acres have not been fully developed, and I'm just wondering why, maybe, instead of totally displacing the people, that maybe why they were not maybe relocated in part of another part of Tucker's Town?  Do you have any reason, or can you answer that question for me please?

WITNESS:


Thank you.  I can only tell you I have seen the documents.  I have not, of course, been inside the heads and the minds and the memory of those people who are now all gone.  The plan for Tucker's Town by the developers was to create an absolutely exclusive zone.  

That meant that the inhabitants had to go and be totally displaced.  The parallel of the modern gated community might be so, but racially defined – obviously.  I might add that probably, of course Jews would not be allowed to have bought property there afterwards.

To go back to your initial comment about the motivation and willingness of people to accept the offers and move or resist, that is right at the heart of the issue and it's very hard to get at that from this distance.

As I mentioned this morning, the fact that a majority seemed to accept the monetary offer voluntarily and move on indicates some willingness to take it.  Whether that, as you say, was conditioned by the fact that they perceive the kind of rhetoric, the kind of racial framing of their position in Bermuda made them very disadvantaged and they better take the offer and move on, I can't really say.

The world then was much more overtly racialized by whites – not just in Bermuda, but everywhere – and I think that was applied to the residents of Tucker's Town.  
I mentioned earlier, if you look at some early issues of the Bermudian Magazine, which tried to talk about Tucker's Town, the first part of those articles always tried to dismiss the original inhabitants as, I believe the word they used was degenerate – non progressive, etc.  

That said, you're right, it was a proud community but it very much, in my mind, was on the margins of Bermuda society.  It was isolated.  Remember, there were just roads then and their standard of living, we'll never be able to determine that in a modern way of figuring our per-capita income, etc.  

But they were very near the – my impression – very near the bottom of the socioeconomic ladder in Bermuda.  That's not to say they weren't a happy community with the rhythms of life that were fulfilling, etc.  But to go back to this morning, if you want to extrapolate that into a future without tourism, one wonders what would have happened to them.

The ladder that the expropriation put them on, for many of them… I mean, I don't want to generalize too much… was a very progressive one.  One example, I don’t think I should mention names, but another resident of Smith’s, who I got to know very well, subsequently became a barber on the American bases after World War II.  This is moving to the air base.

And the family has done remarkably well in terms of education, professional advancement, etc., and the quality of their at least material life.

The sense of loss of community is a valid question and we all are nostalgic for ways and try to perpetuate them and some we can't get back.  As I say, I sensed when I was in Smith's amongst people with a Tucker's Town connection, there was a strong residue of life ther, in terms of music, one, very much so.  The chap I just mentioned who was a barber was also a gifted musician and he was an organist at the church, etc.

So, it's very hard to say, you know, what the psychological loss was.  There was, undoubtedly, loss because people had lost a way of life.  That's not to say that the new way of life didn't have some elements of the old and also some healthy ingredients from the new way of life.  I can't answer your question any more precisely than that, I'm afraid.  

MRS. FORTH:

Thank you very much.

CHAIRWOMAN:

Mr. Perinchief?  Thank you, Dr. McDowall.  

MR. PERINCHIEF:

Yes.  Good afternoon, Dr. McDowall.  I am looking at your pages 12 and 13 and they're subtitled:  "Two Ways of Seeing the Problem - What If” and “Trickle-Down."  Those two specific headings.

And you say that historians having set out the past in traditional empirical fashion, propelled by facts, sometimes like to play with the past by perverting in a contrafactual fashion by saying:  What if?

And, building on that premise, the two acquisitions, one, Tucker's Town, and laterally, St. David's Island, where the U.S. bases were built, both did bring some sort of gain to the broader community of Bermuda.  

However, I will take your mind to what happened with other developments, say, the United States with Black Wall Street Tulsa, where thriving communities of primarily black people were destroyed as centres of enterprise.  

I liken Tucker's Town to that.  And I'll ask you to cast your mind towards that, in that, black people were deprived of generational wealth when these centres of enterprise were destroyed.  So, what if you can extrapolate on Tucker's Town, had they remained there and been made part of even shareholders in the enterprise of tourism.  

Why were they/why did they necessarily have to be removed physically?  And if, even then, why were they not made shareholders?  Could you just wrap your mind around that for me?

WITNESS:


Thank you.  Two points:  One, I would debate the parallel between the grotesquely racist actions in Tulsa in these same years, which has only recently emerged from the hidden history.  You know, archaeologists are trying to find the mass graves of the blacks who were massacred by the… and that's not too light a word, heavier a word.  

That is being recognized.  But what happened at Tucker's Town was, you know, not a massacre.  There was some due process.  There was some extension of material benefits for moving.  

So, I agree. what Tulsa represents is some of the very virulent racist attitudes that were alight in American and perhaps Canadian society at the time.  But that did not manifest itself in the same violent way as it did in Bermuda.

Now, the second part of your question about the what - if, if they had left.  Yes, maybe they would have found new ways of agriculture, etc.  But the Tucker's Town development was predicated on that neck of the woods in Bermuda.  That was the isolated pocket of Bermuda where they thought they could get this exclusive resort in.

In their mind, it was not going to work in Warwick or, you know, one of the more populated parishes of Bermuda.  So/and to have allowed Tucker's Town residents to remain there would have polluted their idea - not my values, their values - they wanted an exclusive community based not just on race but on, of course, class and the wealth.

This was where your neighbour would be a Michael Bloomberg type who probably shared your values and your view of the world.  You did not want a sharecropper or subsisted farmer living next to you.  That was their attitude, it's not mine.  

So, the question was, they all had to go.  Everyone had to go; even a couple of the white families were sold out.  Now, Goodwin Gosling sold out very much because of – he cashed in his earlier investment.  He was speculative in that sense.  

So, the:  What-if?  Yes, what would the community have been like now?  I don't think Bermuda tourism would be such an engine of growth without Tucker's Town, and as I've suggested, I don't think it would have gone anywhere else.  There's a beautiful ocean vista there and a lovely terrain.  

But there might have been – there probably would have been some kind of tourism – and the people of Tucker's Town might have latched onto that.  Who knows in what ways? Charter fishing, supplying the hotels?  But the what-if question works in both directions.  You can apply it to each.  

CHAIRWOMAN:

Thank you..

MR. PERINCHIEF:

Yeah.  Thank you, Mr. McDowall.  

CHAIRWOMAN:

Thank you.  Ms. Lynda Mrs. Lynda Milligan Whyte please?
MRS. MILLIGAN WHYTE:
Thank you.  Dr. McDowall, we have something in common.  I was also a graduate of Queens University, four degrees, the last of which was law.

WITNESS:


Congratulations.

MS. MRS. MILLIGAN WHYTE:
Thank you.  I noticed on page 10 of your report that you make the statement:  

The process of acquisition was transparent, the Royal Gazette providing frequent front-page coverage of the arbitration cases and even of the sad eviction of Diana Smith.

My question doesn't really go to the Phase 1 which was the acquisition, but – compulsory acquisition – it goes to how it was carried out.  And so far, your counterparts that we heard yesterday indicated that the acquisition was/had relied upon the Royal Gazette for information and credibility.  

I'm wondering:  To what extent the archives provided input into how the acquisitions took place and whether the treatment of the small guy was treated fairly?
WITNESS:


Thank you.  I would suggest you talk to Dr. Swan and Dr. Francis about it because they have been in the archives or, thanks to COVID, using the archives at arm's length.  There was transparency in the sense that this was read about in the newspaper, reported fairly frequently.  It wasn't a question of the police coming in the night and it being done in secrecy.

It was open.  It was also open, in the sense – I should point out – that there were white Bermudians who were disturbed by this.  The editor of the Royal Gazette who often took a – I won't say cheeky, but a converse view of things in Bermuda – worried that, in allowing the Development Company to have its way… they were letting in monopoly capitalism into Bermuda which was very much on people's minds in this early part of the 20th century… that trusts were being bust or tried to be bust at this time.  

And there was a worry that this would bring the power of modern corporate America and Britain to bear on Bermuda.  There was also a cultural fear amongst some whites who felt that the wrong kind of whites were going to come in.  

They were going to be high living, exclusive, bringing the wrong values into the kind of society they thought existed in Bermuda.  So, the opposition was, at times, biracial to this and that was reported.  Purcell, the editor of the Royal Gazette, editorialized about it quite a bit.

But when all was said and done, the merchants of/the [indiscernible, 0:20:57] merchants on the Front Street who also strongly influenced the assembly were going to have their way.  It's just that it – there was due process – and people could see it.  And I wonder if some of the holdouts also were intelligent enough.  And I think Mr. Brian Talbot, the biggest landowner, was a very intelligent man.  

He had displayed a great deal of enterprise.  He was probably, I would guess, the wealthiest person in Tucker's Town.  And he had engaged the process and negotiated a better price.  We could debate, as we did this morning, whether that better price was still realistic.  But Talbot, you know, engaged the process.  So that's about all I can say in reaction to your question.

MRS. MILLIGAN WHYTE:
Well, thank you.  Thank you for your response.  

CHAIRWOMAN:

Thank you, Dr. McDowall.  We'll now call in Mr. Starling.

MR. STARLING:

Good afternoon, Dr. McDowall.  I have a lot to say so I'm going to try to get through it pretty quickly, so hope you all forgive me, and I hope I have an indulgence.  I have a green card.  Cool.

So Dr. McDowall, from my reading of your report and listening to you today, you/I'm going to try to distil my understanding of your argument, that is, that there was due process and transparency, that there was some asymmetry in the power relations, but in general the development of Tucker's Town was worth it because it led to this economic benefit for Bermuda which, if I quote you on page 16:

"led to one of the most successful biracial societies on earth."

And you cite on page 14:

“The GDP per-capita of 98,000”.  or whatever.

Just as an aside, I will say that the GDP per-capita rather masks the reality of inequality in Bermuda.  You know, with statistics.  

And I would say that even to this day, we see racial microaggression, such as in the treatment of indigenous and/or black experts versus the treatment of foreign and/or white experts in just general.

But going back to the main focus.  To me, the question is not whether Tucker's Town – the Tucker's Town deal – was beneficial for Bermuda in terms of the dominance of tourism capital over agricultural capital.  Rather, the key question is whether the inhabitants of Tucker's Town were treated fairly or not.  Everything else is immaterial.  

The main thrust of the argument that the economic benefit outweighed anything, immaterial from my perspective here.  You mentioned the asymmetry in power relations just in one passing.  There's one paragraph in your report that mentions that, and the rest of your report is basically the economic benefits and that there was due process.

I would wager that you could argue in a contract:  If I were to say I want to buy this car from you.  You paid, whatever, $15,000 for it, and I put a gun on the table and say, I'm going to give you $500.   That's not a fair compensation.  And I think we have to take into consideration the full aspect of the power of symmetry.

And I just wanted to get your understanding.  Would you agree that these – the symmetry and power – between the whites and the blacks and the key agents involved undermines the claim of due process?  Even if you signed this contract saying I'm going to give you my car for $500, and it's all transparent in due process, the fact that I have this gun on the table undermines that whole process.

And I would say that the whole racial system at that time could represent that gun.  I'm just curious what your thoughts are on that.  Thank you.  

WITNESS:


Thank you.  When I say it's transparent and fair, I'm simply taking it by the standards of what was possible at the time within the, sort of, political social context at the time.  That would never meet muster in our society, yours or mine.  The notion of fairness is relevant to the times and we have developed, at least in Canada, a very complex idea of/notion of fairness.

Very little of what happened in Tucker's Town in 1920 would satisfy that definition, nor would the political arrangements.  I mean, I cited this this morning.  Male property owners, no women.  Very few women.  A political system which would be very alien to us which, I think in Bermuda, has been enlarged, on very large measure, remedied.  Tucker's Town could never take place now.  

So yes, you do have to qualify and really probe into the nature of the asymmetry of it.  Again, we can't get into the minds of the people who lived in Tucker's Town, but I think there was a level of apprehension and fear that power flowed from Front Street, the assembly and people like Stanley Spurling and Goodwin Gosling, etc., and they were not to be toyed with.

Whether that tipped the balance into the, let's say, the voluntary group, saying:  "Well, we'll take the cheque, and we're out of here".  I still think the market value was attractive to them.  It may/their acceptance of it, I think, quite well might have been accelerated by their view that we are on the very end of the stick in Bermuda power relations.  

So yes, we have to be taken in relative terms.  You're right, I tend to take an economic view of it rather than a political view of it.  They did try to resist.  There was a petition signed only by about 25 people out of the owners.  I mean, that would be more families than numbers.  So, there was some political resistance.  They did find allies.

But you're right, they were really quite powerless in the scheme of things in Bermuda.  So I agree, this could be written from a totally/from the perspective of political asymmetry, you know, that you have a Colonial oligarchy, not dissimilar to the places in the Caribbean and even to 19th century Canada where we have what we call the Family Compact.  

It was an early and a stage in the political development of Bermuda that thankfully has passed.  But we have to judge it in the relevant terms of its time.  

MR. STARLING:

Thank you very much, Dr. McDowall.  Appreciate it.  

CHAIRWOMAN:

Mr. Stovell?
MR. STOVELL:

Good afternoon, Dr. McDowall.  I have a couple questions and hopefully, if I don't run out, I could give you another one:
You raise a couple of concepts in your paper:  Just compensation.  I'm intrigued by that, in that, I'm interested, and I don't know if you've been able to define it thus far.  Where does the weight of just compensation lie?  

And what I mean by that is, is it more just towards the owners via fair value or is it just towards the proposed development, possibly meaning you pay as little as possible to maximize profit?  Because that doesn't seem to be defined at all.  And, within the extent of the exchanges or results of these various sales, it's all over the map.  So, if you could elaborate on that briefly.

WITNESS:


This morning, Justice Whitehall, from a lawyer's point of view, laid out what just compensation's components are.  One is the material recognition of the land, or the house.  And the other is the much less tangible just compensation for the loss of a way of life or the quality of life.  And that is, as we discussed this morning, hard to establish.

Whether the developers took this into mind, I don't know.  But from their point of view, in the end, once Tucker's Town paid off, which was not a given as they bought this property, it was a tremendous reward on their investment.  

You know, it was a very gratifying one for what they paid and what Tucker's Town has come to be and what the, you know, economic benefit of the Mid-Ocean Club and the golf clubs and all that sort of stuff was.

So, for them, it was a very just reward.  I mean, they were/they saw themselves as taking a risk, but they were doing everything to assure that risk paid off.  Whether in taking that risk they looked at the people they were negotiating with with any kind of, let's call it social compassion or economic compassion, I don't know.  We don't have memoirs of them.

But their behaviours indicated that they were rational enough, or advised well enough, to make offers that would make most of the potential trouble go away.  And I think the fact that a large majority took up the offer quite voluntarily, whether they felt – as somebody said, that they have a gun, you know, on the table in front of them – I just can't say.

But the prevailing political defaults of Bermuda at the time was respect, perhaps fear, of the dominant white mercantile elite.  I mean, they were powerful, and we see them all through the Caribbean.  We saw them in Canada.  And their power would, in Canada, certainly be diminished or would meld into the corporate power in our society.

What is just?  I mean, that's a question that we play with every week and every potential settlement we have.  I would have to say in our society now, we are much more attuned to what we think is an acceptable justice.  There's very little debate.  I saw in the Royal Gazette about this more abstract notion of what is just here.  It was all dealt with at a very practical level.  

You know, how many have left?  What are the arbitrations doing?  When can we get on with it?  This was not a philosophical society.  So, I'm afraid that I can't really precisely answer that.  

MR. STOVELL:

No problem.  One more quick question.

CHAIRWOMAN:

You have another question; yes?

MR. STOVELL:

Yes.  I don’t see a red cloud yet.
CHAIRWOMAN:

Okay.

MR. STOVELL:

You spoke to the trickle-down concept and should you, you know, believe in that philosophy, and the positive benefits to Bermuda's tourism from the inception or success of the Tucker's Town development forward to our current economic and tourism economy, or our tourism product and economy in general, to this day.

In saying that, if you believe in that concept, then in my mind I would think as what the Chinese concept, there's a yin and a yang.  So if there is a positive trickle-down then isn't there a strong likelihood that there's a negative trickle-down such that it exists today as well as a resultant of the action that was taken at that time and which, by and large, perhaps has never been probed, or maybe even ignored, up until perhaps recent times?

WITNESS:


There is, in a sense, a yin and a yang.  I argued that there was trickle-down in the sense that it promoted steady and relatively good income employment for a large portion of Bermudians.

What didn't change was that control of the capital assets and the kind of spigots of tourist development remained in white, either Bermudian or offshore, you know, Sonesta Hotel and all that sort of thing.

And that didn't change, and I don't think has changed very much.  There are obviously Bermudian hoteliers, etc.  There were also, as you probably know, some hotels dedicated to black clientele as well - not many, but some – so  there was a negative trickle-down in the sense that the potential for growth and improvement by the black population had a ceiling on it, I think.

Go back to the same question; how was a black, even employed in a hotel or as a taxi driver, going to acquire the kind of start-up capital that gets someone into the patrol of the economy, particularly when there's kind of a monopolistic control of what exists?  The big hotels, the steamship contracts, etc.

In using those two concepts, I was just throwing out two ideas, and somebody has already flipped the what if, quite rightly.  There are other concepts that could be involved too and other people are welcome to apply them.  That was just, in my mind, two ways of looking at it and questioning the ultimate consequences of it.

MR. STOVELL:

Thank you.

CHAIRWOMAN:

Now Mrs. Binns?
MRS. BINNS:


Yes.  Good day, Dr. McDowall.  My first question is with respect to your report using the reference page 12, paragraphs 2 and 3 of your report that says:  "What If":

What if there would have been the fate of the Tucker's Town and its inhabitants if the BDC had never set its ambitious eyes on the tourist potential of their homeland? 

And what if all due respect and admiration of the vibrant community culture of their marginalized community. It is hard to imagine it ever assembling the capital, entrepreneurial connection and expertise to alter its hardscrabble way of life a century ago.  

Would you agree, or would you not agree, that the ambitious eye of the BDC and business association – or associates – were not an imposition on the residents of the Tucker's Town area?  

Because we have to acknowledge that we, as Bermudians, enjoy a high standard of living?  Would you not agree that conversely, but for the people of Tucker's Town and even St. David's Island, whom we owe a great deal of gratitude for their sacrifice, would you not agree that the burden placed on Tucker's Town and St. David's communities was disproportionate as to the burden which was not equally shared by Bermudians as a whole?  
So, I'm saying you're using the what-if scenario.  And I'm saying, but for these communities, Bermudians would not be enjoying the standard of living that we are presently; can you or do you agree with that?

WITNESS:


I would agree that the residents of Tucker's Town and the St. David's area, which was, of course, biracial… you know, it wasn't as exclusively black as Tucker's Town… paid a special, price more so than any other group in Bermuda.  They lost a geography.  They had their way of life displaced, some of which they carried forward, as I mentioned earlier – but that is pretty fundamental.

And I think they are owed a due a tremendous respect, both for helping to prime this pump of tourism, but also in paying a sacrifice for it initially.  
And again, I argue that, in many ways down the road, it rewarded them as well.  But they paid a terrible price up front for it and should be commemorated in that respect.

You know, I was reflecting that, particularly with the first question I was asked, about the psychology of displacement.  As you can tell from my name, I'm a Scottish-Canadian.  We've been in Canada since the 1790s.  But like many Scots in Canada, we arrived in Canada because of what was called the highland clearances of Scotland after the Jacobite uprising and Bonnie Prince Charlie and all that stuff.  

The landlords, backed by the British, pushed many Scots off their small farms – quite literally onto the gangplank of an immigrant ship – no compensation except the price of getting you out of here.  And we ended up in Canada, the States, etc., dispossessed.  We carried our way of life forward.  There are still lots of Scots around in Canada.  Our first Prime Minister was Scottish-Canadian.

But that was a fundamental kind of displacement that really stripped us of our homeland, stripped us of our way of life.  We carried that way of life over to Canada, and many people joked that it was the Scots who made Canada.  But that doesn't betray the initial injustice of being told to get out/clear the Highlands.

So, lots of people around the world have paid this kind of price.  There have been some rewards; I mean, we've done very well in Canada.  But there is still this scar of being told to leave our homeland.  And that scar, to some degree, is on the folks who left Tucker's Town.  It healed to some degree, that they found a new life and contributed, etc.  But there's just no denying that it was a fundamental disruption in their way of life.

MRS. BINNS:

Okay.  In your article:  "Trading Places", in describing the 1920 protests of some of the residents against the BDC legislation being piloted through the House of Assembly, you write that, on page 25: 

A petition signed by 24 freeholders in the Tucker's Town area was presented to the House by Dr. T.H. Outerbridge who represented St. George's Parish.

Later, in reference to the final vote being taken on the BDC bill, you write: 

T.H. Outerbridge stood by the sentiments of the petitioners in his constituency.  

That's at page 26.  

.  It has been pointed out by one of our very astute researchers that there are two errors in the article:
Dr. T.H. Outerbridge was not the MCP for St. George's Parish and therefore the petitioners were not his constituents.  And he was not the person who sold 40 acres of Castle Harbour property to the BDC.  

In fact, it was Dr. T.H. Outerbridge who marshalled the petition of the 24 freeholders even though the petitioners were not in his Smith’s Parish constituency.  In doing so, he was in direct opposition to S.S. Spurling, who was one of the four MCPs for St. George's Parish, and who was not the pilot for the second BDC Bill.  This Bill dealt specifically with the expropriation of the Tucker's Town properties and Mr. Spurling's actions were in direct conflict of interest with that of his constituents.  I'm pointing this out because it makes a difference in the telling of the events.  

The other three MPs for St. George's, W.J. Boyle, V. Pugh and F.E. Smith, were conspicuously absent from the House of Assembly on the day of the fated vote on August 6th, 1920, completely abandoning their constituents.  
I'm getting to a point.
Dr. T.H. Outerbridge voted for the petition of the Tucker's Town freeholders with only one other member in support, and that was W.A. Moore, and he was MCP for Warwick Parish.  Unfortunately, these errors have been repeated in recent times.  In the former Bermuda Ombudsman's report, a grave error in 2014, and in a reprint of the 1996 article renamed "Creating Paradise in Tucker's Town" in 2015.  And will continue to resurface if not corrected.

Because your "Trading Places" article is cited as authority/is cited and is authority on the Tucker's Town history, how do you intend to address these errors?  Because it makes a difference as to who was on the side of the petitioners and who wasn't representing, because it is a direct correlation to how the interlinking of the parties involved was purely for, not just economic gain.  It also had, as everyone has alluded to, the impact on the residents – particularly of St. David's.  

They had no representation.  If you look at who was marshalling the Bill, who supported, would you say that there was fair representation for the Tucker's Town people when it came down to representation overall?  Because they seem to have been left defenceless.  

WITNESS:


The answer is yes, I agree with you.  The error, I admit to.  I forget the woman who pointed this out, but she's quite right.  I got that wrong about Outerbridge.  We outsiders often joke that there are too many Outerbridges in Bermuda.  But she's quite right on that and it does misrepresent, to some degree, the political dynamic.

What the reality is, is I think your comments point out, is that the political system was skewed tremendously against the black inhabitant of Bermuda because the Assembly was dominated by white property owners and mercantilists.  So very few people came to their defence.  

MRS. BINNS:


Right.

WITNESS:


A few people, as I mentioned earlier, cited concerns over monopoly and foreign culture, and whether too many aliens would be allowed to buy property in Bermuda.  But if I get to redo that article… and it was a magazine article… it wasn't an academic article and I had about a month to write it, so I agree that error has to be corrected.

And if I/if it's ever republished, I’ll certainly correct it.  I would point, out that article was as far as I can see, the first time anyone in any serious way had brought this issue to the surface after that lecture which made me see that this was something that was on Bermudians' minds and that had been a reluctance to talk about it.

So, the article, I think, served a tremendous utility in starting a process, really, which you may be the culmination of.  That woman who told me, we don't talk about that, it was a sense that this issue should just be buried and left.  

So, I feel very proud.  As a historian, I feel that that article really connected with the social and economic and racial need in Bermuda.  I do acknowledge that factual error and I'll correct it if I ever get to republish it.

MRS. BINNS:


Oh, thank you very much.  That would be most appreciated because you are being cited in other reports that have been submitted.  And I think that is my/I'm going to end there.  Thank you, Dr. McDowall.

WITNESS:


Thank you.

CHAIRWOMAN:

And Mr. Starling is going to ask you one final question, Dr. McDowall.  Go ahead.

MR. STARLING:

Hi.  I'll try to be quick in case any of my other Commissioners want to use some time as well.  Just touching base on one thing you mentioned earlier about historical silences and what you just mentioned to Mrs. Binns here about the suppression of memory as regards to that white researcher who spoke to you.  

Are you aware that the key relevant documents concerning the Tucker's Town purchase were originally inside our archives and have subsequently disappeared?  Which leads to a huge gap in our knowledge.  Seeing as you were investigating these issues for the last 40-odd years in our archives, any chance you came across them, or saw them?

WITNESS:


I was told in the 1994, '95, '96… when I was working on the tourism book and this came up… I was told the same thing.  The documents are gone.  Because, the natural historian's question is to say:  Well, I want to see the nitty gritty of this, so let me see the arbitration minutes, etc.  

All I'm seeing is what I hear in the Royal Gazette.  And, let's face it, The Royal Gazette was transparent in reporting it, but clearly it represented a view of Bermuda that might not necessarily capture another side of the story.

But I was also told that the documents weren't there.  We could talk conspiracy cases which might, you know, might or might not help us.  But no, I didn't see them and I heard other people say this.  

The St. David's ones, which were available, which I used for an article on a woman called Victoria Hayward, who was a very well-known white Bermudian novelist who succeeded in Canada and the states.  Her property was expropriated and she got I think £1,800 or something for it.  

That was closer to the day-to-day reality of it.  But in Tucker's Town, no.  And I was told the same thing you just asserted.

MR. STARLING:

Thank you, Doctor.  And thank you Justice for your indulgence.  

CHAIRWOMAN:

Before I call in Pastor Whalen, I'm going to give Mr. Stovell an opportunity to ask one last question; Mr. Stovell?

MR. STOVELL:

Yes.  Dr. McDowall, in the course of your presentation, you seem to have arrived at, and I presume it's your opinion, that the people who had settled with the offers from the BDC were satisfied in the main with their offer; how do you reconcile, or arrive at that?

And to put a finer point on it, for instance, if there was a citizen who owned 80 acres and he had a settlement of either land or cash, what would that enable him to buy once he left?  Or what was the area of settlement?  

So, if he had 80 acres, does that translate to 40 acres in Smith's Parish?  Or the ability to buy even half the amount of acreage?  How does that shake up in your sort of/in your research?

WITNESS:


I can't answer that.  That would require a great deal of economic digging.  In terms of comparable property values, you'd have to go into the land registry to see what the valuation would be.  And I have never done that.  I can't do that.  My conclusion, in the respect you just brought up, was that to take the analogy of buying a car, somebody brought up.  They took the keys and drove off.

Whether that meant that they thought they were going with money that would really sustain them and improve them in another part of Bermuda, I don't know.  I think my guess would be, having walked and run that whole area many times, is that that land is not comparable to say, you know, farmland in Southampton.

I mean, so I don't think the money would've bought the comparable size of property.  Whether the quality would go up for the smaller size, I don't know.  I suspect it might have.  So…

MR. STOVELL:

I used the 50 % knockoff as a relative term.  I said, you know, if you had 80, what does that get you, 40?  Does it get you 10?  You know…

WITNESS:


My hunch, it would be a fair amount less.  That's why I think as things - well, to the end, Gosling started throwing in three acres here or something on top of the cash settlement, so that people would be guaranteed at least a foothold elsewhere on the Island – but the microdetail of that, I don't have.  It would be a good question for a researcher, but I can't answer that.

MR. STOVELL:

Thank you.

CHAIRWOMAN:

Thank you.  Thank you, Dr. McDowall, and thank you Commissioners.  I'm going to ask Pastor Whalen to ask you questions now.  He's a gentleman, the pastor, at Marsden Church, and he has been served adverse notice.  And so, he has permission and standing to ask you questions please.  Pastor Whalen, go ahead, please.  

PASTOR WHALEN:

Yes.  Thank you, Justice, and to the commissioners.  Dr. McDowall, yes, I definitely recall your visits to Marsden.  That's been over a decade ago it seems.  I've been at Marsden for over 20 years.  And I just have two or three questions for you.  The first one is on this thing of historical silence:  

Are you/you were talking about perceptions of certain members of Marsden with regards to what happened at Tucker's Town.  Were you aware that there was really a dichotomy of perceptions with regards to what transpired in Tucker's Town?  That certain members that you mentioned, not so much in my understanding from talking with people, felt that it was a good thing in and of itself, but reflecting upon the resilience of individuals who may go through something bad.

I think of the scripture, you know, that in all things, God works together for the good.  You know, all things may be wretched and terrible but, somehow, they're able, whether it's through their own resiliency or through the grace of God, to get beyond it.

And so this historical silence kind of troubles me because I think of abuse victims who are often silent about what happened for years because both those who have a sense that, you know, there was a positive outcome and those who felt that it was a hellish experience, they seem to both agree that what happened in Tucker's Town was not fair.

And to the point, of those that you cited having conversations with, those same individuals seem to reflect that those who went through the Tucker's Town experience did not want to talk about it; have you heard that before?  And, were you aware of the dichotomy of perceptions from individuals?  Because I didn't want to have this broad brush that, you know, folk just kind of felt it was a good thing.

WITNESS:


Thank you, Pastor Whalen.  Nice to see you.  It has been some time.  

PASTOR WHALEN:

Yes.

WITNESS:


I know you've been staying elsewhere, other end of the Island of late.  But…

PASTOR WHALEN:

I had hair before, so; I didn't know if you could remember.

WITNESS:


This was all black before… anyhow… yes, I was aware.  I interviewed - I'm trying to remember – six, seven people.  But you're right.  I acquired their names from people who I sensed had this more positive view of what it had done to their family's trajectory.  And, given human nature, they tended to, I suspect in retrospect, suggest those people who are inclined to that same point of view.

I did sense that there were others who didn't share entirely that view.  But from what you say, I think you're quite right.  If you do have that view, you're probably reluctant to talk about it to a stranger.  You might talk it over coffee after church with some of your fellow parishioners who understood you and you trusted, etc.

So, I didn't pick that up, but that's not to say it didn't exist.  We should always resist the temptation of talking of a group people in homogenous terms.  People have different experiences with things.  Those experiences and that mindset gets massaged over the years by what may be a meandering historical reminiscence of the time.  

You know, by the time of the '90s, there weren't many people who had been born in Tucker's Town and they were all quite young when they had to leave.  So, some people were getting this passed down through one or two generations, etc.  Sometimes accurately, sometimes perhaps not too accurately.  Probably accurate in the sense that the general sense of a cultural, or a racial bruising, would still be with them.

But again, this process that you are engaged in, it was an invitation now to feel comfortable with coming forward and whatever recommendations you make, I hope it sends that message to Bermudians that this is a different society.  We have different standards or fairness and what is just than prevailed a century ago.  

So, come and talk about it.  Bring those values to other issues in today's Bermuda society.  But be wary about passing quick judgment on the values of 100 years ago.  But, you're right, people have different, and dichotomous kind of view of what happened.  

One exercise here would of course be an oral history of capturing these attitudes, these memories, now often second-, or third-hand down, for posterity.  That would be a worthwhile exercise and that hasn't, to my knowledge, happened to date.  So, yeah, I acknowledge there could be a different strain.  And well, I'd like to talk to them but I'm sure other people would like to talk to them too.

PASTOR WHALEN:

Well, some individuals will be coming before the Commission.  One particular individual was a member of Marsden, has strong family roots and is definitely outraged about the trauma that his forbearers experienced.

Another question with regards to the relationship of the church and the cemetery:  I’m very much concerned because with the land loss, this was the only relic of that community that was retained or given some sort of a carve-out.  

And I am not sure if there's anything that actually documents how the cemetery was deemed to be preserved in the midst of the holdings of the Bermuda Land Development Corporation and what the terms were.  

Have you seen anything historically with regards to that?  Because, I mean, questions of ownership by practice over the years have sort of just recognized that it was not claimed as property belonging to the Bermuda Land Development.  

This church has had a custodial role over the years but the way that that cemetery has been dealt with, with subsequent actions such as the driving range and whatnot, has been a sore spot.  And…

SR. COUNSELOR:

Justice, I hesitate to intervene, but I wonder if the Reverend Whalen is giving evidence or asking a question.

PASTOR WHALEN:

I'm asking a question as to …

SR. COUNSELOR:

Well, where's the question?

PASTOR WHALEN:

Well, I just posed the question.

SR. COUNSELOR:

I didn't hear it.  

PASTOR WHALEN:

Okay.

CHAIRWOMAN:

Could you repeat your question, please, Mr. Pastor Whalen?  

PASTOR WHALEN:

Yeah.  My question…and I apologize if I was going outside the boundaries… the question is:  Have you any information with regards to the matters of the cemetery?  

WITNESS:


Okay.  Thank you.  The answer is no.  I… again, I was writing a magazine article and writing just one facet of a larger book.  So, my research was not as probing, I think, as possibly Francis and Swan have been.  But I… in that reading of the newspapers, what documents were in the archives, there was never a mention of the cemetery.  It simply didn't seem to be on the agenda, and I think that may well be a reflection of the general racialized attitude about the inhabitants of Tucker's Town.

We have gone, in Canada, the full journey on this issue of the burial of the dead.  No development in Canada moves now unless it's absolutely sure there is no sense of an aboriginal burial ground on it.  It will stop any development before the archaeologists come in or the oral tradition of the native peoples is engaged to ensure that that is not the case.  

Now, with regard to the Tucker's – the Marsden cemetery there – my personal attitude is that the right to a cemetery and the right to honour your forbearers is an inalienable one.  That attitude I don't think was ever present in the negotiation of 1920 as it wouldn't have been, I think in Canada, over native issues.

But I think the Marsden community, or those people of Tucker's Town, have every right to see justice in this.  And I don't know enough about the recent history about whether golf driving ranges, etc., have infringed on that, but if they have, that should be corrected.

One other historical notion or application that historians have is the notion I mentioned of memory.  We construct a sense of memory of what we have been and we construct what are called sites of memory, where we go to attest to those values, to restore… we’ll go to the War Memorial here in Kingston and honour those who died in the war.

And we look at that monument as an affirmation of what we believe we did in the war.  The same as my forbearers, those Scots who came, are buried down the road in Prince Edward County, and I go to visit them once or twice a year.  And I would feel outraged if anyone wanted to move them.

I mentioned this morning that the St. Lawrence Seaway flooded towns.  Well, it also flooded 18 cemeteries.  That was/there were three options were offered to the people whose forbearers were in those cemeteries:

One, they could totally dig up the cemetery and move it inland on the dry land.  Two of the cemeteries did that.

Second option was that they would move the stones to a new site of memory on dry land and yet the graves would remain there underwater.
And the third option, which few took up, was that the whole thing would just be flooded and you'd have to look through the waves to see your forbearers.

But you see it was on the radar by 1950s.  We/and these were of course largely white people which enhanced that negotiation.  But, in the case of the Marsden cemetery, I think every effort should be made to ensure that the forbearers have a sense that this most central sort of spiritual recognition of their existence is respected.

And whatever healing comes out of your Commission’s – and I know you're not on the Commission, Reverend Whalen – but of the Commission’s work, this notion of site of memory is an important one.  Having recognized injustice or a more balanced view of the past, you construct a site of memory that allows people to see:  Yeah, that's been recognized, and I can see my values in it.

That's perhaps why there are so few, to date, sites of memory in Bermuda because there's conflicting sort of social, cultural, racial views of them.  So that's all I can say about the cemetery.  

PASTOR WHALEN:

Thank you very much, sir.  

CHAIRWOMAN:

Thank you, Pastor Whalen.  I take it that's that?  Counsellor, is there any redress?  Counsel Whitehall?  

SR. COUNSELOR:

Yes.  There is a couple of questions, Justice.

CHAIRWOMAN:

Okay.

SR. COUNSELOR:

Commissioner Milligan Whyte asked you about, and I'll paraphrase, the forceful removals, maybe how the expropriation was affected.  How many forceful removals are you aware of?  That is, forceful in the sense that the police came in and took him by the scrow?  They lead you out.
WITNESS:


Are you addressing that to me or…

SR. COUNSELOR:

Yes.

WITNESS:


Okay.  Very few because…Diana Smith was/is the most notable one.  She was also one of the very last ones that seemed to be reported because it was seen as a sort of prime for the project, you know, that the way was now clear.  But I am not aware of any others.  Certainly, the newspapers didn't report any forceful removals.  

I might point out that when the Bermuda Railway was built a decade later, there were some forceful removals there as the line neared completion.

SR. COUNSELOR:

Right.  Let's stay with Tucker's Town.  We've got enough problems the one expropriation.  I don't want to get into another one.  Thank you.  Now, Mr. Starling used an analogy of a gun.  And, of course, as I put it to you there was no gun involved.  There was legislation which made the expropriation compulsory.  So, in that sense, one may analogize that the force of the law was the gun; would that be fair?

WITNESS:


Gun is a powerful metaphor.  

SR. COUNSELOR:

Well, he used it, so I’m trying to understand what you understood.  

WITNESS:


The force of the law… and, let's face it, this was a British Colony with that whole notion of British law and order.  Whether it served certain members of the community well or not, or in a forceful way.  But it was very much the ethos of the time.  So yes, it was a legislation that would not have met our standards, but it was the legislation of the time passed by an Assembly, so it had the force of the law in it.  

And by that measure, the police would have been obliged to respond to any order given because it wasn't capricious or arbitrary.  It was mandated.  But I saw not much incidence of that.  

SR. COUNSELOR:

Okay.  If I can use this as a segue, in a country governed by the rule of law, as opposed to a totalitarian communist country, what is the effect… as a historian, what is your understanding of the effect once the legislature passes the law?  Are/is the police compelled to… well, is the judiciary required to enforce the law, or can they ignore the law?

WITNESS:


Well, today, of course, at least in Canada, you could …

SR. COUNSELOR:

Assuming there's no constitutional impediment.  

WITNESS:


All right… in Canada today with our Charter of Rights and Freedoms, you can immediately go to the courts and say I won't…

SR. COUNSELOR:

No.  That's a… that's a constitutional impediment.  

WITNESS:


Yeah.

SR. COUNSELOR:

As in a unitary government, where once parliament passes the law, are the courts obliged to enforce it?

WITNESS:


Yes, because without that discipline or obligation, everything would unravel.  It's very fashionable these days to critique colonialism, not just in Bermuda but everywhere, even in Canada, and to disparage the empire.  And there's plenty to disparage – obviously.

But it seems to me there are some legacies from the empire that are very worthy – the rule of law being one of them, the sense that no one is above the law.  And that binds India, it binds Canada, it binds the Commonwealth and some of the countries that have even left the Commonwealth.  It's a fundamental social aspect of a civil society and if we begin to - if we let it unravel, then we let everything else unravel - and that would have been the consequence, I think, at the time.  I imagine most of the constabulary in Bermuda in the '20s was of British import, I'm just guessing at that, who would come with this attitude built in.  But I could be corrected on that.

SR. COUNSELOR:

And what/and following up on that, you mentioned that a number of inhabitants of Tucker's Town actually sold voluntarily, that is without the compulsion of the law.  Can you say how many sold prior to the legislation being enacted?

WITNESS:


You mean the second wave of the legislation?

SR. COUNSELOR:

Yes.  Well, the second wave is the one that contained the compulsory power…

WITNESS:


Yes.

SR. COUNSELOR:

…and created the structure for the expropriations.  

WITNESS:


Well, I believe there was a letter from the lawyers in the archives, 19… early '21… saying that, I think it was two-thirds had already sold, and now the left would have to focus on the remaining third, or quarter.  And, therefore, they approached the Government, the Assembly, and asked for this addition to the original Company Act to force the sales ahead.

The voluntary ones, as I said before, the fact that they cashed the cheque, I mean, is the only evidence we have.  Now, Pastor Whalen may have heard, you know, in the kind of oral history he was talking about, which would be interesting to hear, that may be a more intimate story of the families who voluntarily left.  

Did they voluntarily leave, as some of the questions have suggested, because they felt that there was no option, that the political power was so weighed against them that they better take their money and run right now?  Or did something… well, this is the godsend we've been hoping for, to move whatever… I don't know that and we may never know.  

SR. COUNSELOR:

Fair enough, right.  Mr. Stovell asked you about just compensation to the owners.  And do you know what was the amount of capital invested in Tucker's Town in order to create what has become that exclusive resort – both by corporate and by private individuals?  Can you give the Commission ad magnitude of the capital investment - in 1920 terms?
WITNESS:


It would have been a very significant investment, second only I think to the kind of military establishment in Bermuda which involved construction and the maintenance of it and the maintenance of the operations of the garrison and the navy base, etc.

This was a very large injection of capital and it came quickly.  You notice in the discussion of clearing out the last holdouts, that the golf course is, you know, being planned, and that the clubhouse is being planned, and that the – very shortly thereafter, the Castle Harbour Hotel is being planned.

So, this money is coming in, creating pressure, that is dependent on Tucker's Town being emptied by its original people.  You can go back to the documents, and I'm sure the figures are there.  They/like any developer, they boast, you know, that we're putting in X million or something.  That's up front to create confidence, etc.

But it relatively was a large amount of money, particularly when considered it juiced up the construction industry at least at the day-labour kind of level.  The engineers were imported.  But it/I would say it was a very significant economic injection.  And what it also did was to start creating the trades in Bermuda, some imported.  There was already an expat sort of situation then.  But trades in Bermuda that would sustain the tourism industry as other hotels were built and other infrastructure was put in place, the Railway coming down the line, excuse the play on words.  So, it was very significant.

SR. COUNSELOR:

Now, as an economist, your understanding of the availability of capital in Bermuda in 1919 just after the war, early 1920s, was the kind of capital that was required to create this exclusive community; was it available from domestic sources?

WITNESS:


No, no, it was not.  The nature of economic activity in a trading economy tends to be more year after year of a cycle.  We had the same thing in Nova Scotia in the Maritime Provinces and why cities like Halifax have relatively slipped in significance in Canada.  

The capital had to come in from central Canada and with the capital, the connection to expertise.  Capital in Bermuda tended to be in land, you know, and people.  And the point has been made that the people were making a speculative play.  I think Goodwin Gosling, that was his play.  He had 100 acres there.  He liked it, I guess, in the summer.

But the moment these people came along, you could see him thinking, my ship has arrived.  You know, I can sell it to them.  They're going to be… I’ll give them a first big chunk of the land they want.  But that wouldn't have been sufficient to build hotels, all that infrastructure, or to guarantee you a steamship company, the kind of bed-capacity and golf courses, etc., that tourists would want.  

SR. COUNSELOR:

Mr. Stovell came back with a question and he asked you about a relative value in exchange of one property for another property in another part of the Island.  Now, if I wanted to use a comparator:  If I had a Volkswagen, would I expect to get a Rolls-Royce in exchange?  Is it a reasonable expectation?

WITNESS:


Not a Rolls-Royce, but I think you would have expected to get, ou know, a high-end Volkswagen or something.  You would expect the transaction to improve your sense of wellbeing and the kind of kudos that came with that.  Otherwise, why sell the original Volkswagen?  

SR. COUNSELOR:

So that can you say, whether within that paradigm, the land that people from Tucker's Town ended up with, was it an improved land as opposed to the land?  If they had a Volkswagen at Tucker's Town, did they have a Volkswagen plus when they moved?

WITNESS:


My sense is …

SR. COUNSELOR:

Do you know?

WITNESS:


Yes, but to go back to the question, which I think is a very good question:  I think you probably could go to the registry.  We know the names of the people – most of the people – who left Tucker's Town.  In some cases, we know how much land they had there and what they were paid for it.  

I would think you could probably pick some of them up in the registry wherever they emerged elsewhere.  A lot of them went to Smith's.  And, at that point, you would know how much land they bought, whether it had a house on it, whether they built a house on it, or whatever.  You get some comparability there.  But that's empirical work in the registry office or the archives.

And it would also beg the question whether they put all the money from Tucker's Town completely into their new life, or did they, I don't know, buy cows with it or something?  But it is a good question – the comparability.  And my sense that a majority did accept the initial offers, even under some kind of psychological political duress, they still thought there was some advantage in it  - to taking it – because down the road, they saw the possibility of a better life.  

And these guys, like Spurling, and Gosling, and their foreign advisors, were pretty shrewd businessmen.  I argue in the Book on Tourism that, whatever we think about the racial stereotyping of it, they delivered a Bermuda tourism product that was transcendent.  You know, they knew how to get the advertisers, projecting the values, etc.

If that's the case, I'm sure they were shrewd enough to sit down in the initial stage and say, what kind of price is going to get most of these people out of here?  I don't mean to sound blunt, but it would have not been in their interest to lowball these people because then you would have much more resistance.  So, make a reasonable offer, hope people are reasonable enough to accept it.  I would think that was their thinking.

SR. COUNSELOR:

Thank you very much, Dr. McDowall.  Those are my questions, Judge.

CHAIRWOMAN:

Thank you, Counsel.  I think this is the end of our proceedings for today.  Thank you, Dr. Duncan McDowall for your time and for coming forward.  Thank you, Counsel.  We resume tomorrow morning at 10:00 a.m.

SR. COUNSELOR:

Thank you.

CHAIRWOMAN:

Thank you.

WITNESS:


Thank you very much, Madame Justice.  Thank you for the opportunity of coming today.

CHAIRWOMAN:

Very good.  Thank you
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